
 

  wincoil.gov | Page 1  

 
AGENDA 

 
Winnebago County Courthouse  

400 West State Street, Rockford, IL 61101 
County Board Room, 8th Floor 

 

Thursday, August 14, 2025 
6:00 p.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  ............................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance……..…………………………………Board Member Joe Hoffman 
 
3. Agenda Announcements .............................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
4. Roll Call ................................................................................................ Clerk Lori Gummow 
 
5. Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings and Public Participation 

A. Awards – None 
B. Presentations – None 
C. Public Hearings – None 
D. Public Participation – None 

 
6. Approval of Minutes .................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Approval of June 26, 2025 minutes  
B. Layover of July 24, 2025 minutes 

 
7. Consent Agenda….…………………………………………….………………….…… Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Raffle Report   
B. Auditor’s Report 

 
8. Appointments (Per County Board rules, Board Chairman appointments shall lay over until 

the second board meeting after they are first introduced) 
 

9. Reports of Standing Committees…………..………………………………..…..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

A. Finance Committee…………………………………………………….John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
B. Zoning Committee ....................................................... .Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 

Planning and/or Zoning Requests: 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 2  

1. Committee Report 
 

C. Economic Development Committee ......................... John Sweeney, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Granting Authority to the Winnebago County Board Chairman to Execute 

the Documents Necessary to Complete a Loan for $50,000 from the Revolving Loan 
Fund to Rockford Machined Products LLC (RMP)                        
 

D. Operations and Administrative Committee ........... Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Establishing the Date, Time, and Location of Each Meeting of The 

Winnebago County Board 
3. Resolution Establishing the County Holiday Schedule For 2026 
4. Resolution Reappointing John Butitta to the Board of Trustees of the Northern Illinois 

Land Bank Authority 
  

E. Public Works Committee ............................................. Dave Tassoni, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. (25-043) Resolution Authorizing the Award of Bid for Forest Hills Road Safety 

Improvements (Section  25-00751-00-SP) 
Cost: $49,969.60      C.B. District: 17 

3. (25-044) Resolution Authorizing the Highway Department to Lease Five Light Duty 
Vehicles as Part of the Master Lease Agreement with Enterprise FM Trust  
Estimated Cost: 34,000 per year (5 years)  C.B. District: County Wide  

4. (25-045) Resolution Authorizing a Joint Funding Agreement with the State of Illinois for 
Federal Participation for Replacement of the Prairie Hill Road Bridge Over the Rock 
River and for Appropriating the Local Share of Funds (Section 18-00655-00-BR) 
Cost:  County ($2,877,000);    State/Fed ($4,423,000) C.B. District: 2, 4 

5. (25-046) Resolution Authorizing the Obligation Retirement of Bond Payments from 
MFT Funds (Section 14-00563-00-GB)  
Cost: $200,875 (MFT)     C.B. District: County Wide 
 

F. Public Safety and Judiciary Committee……………………Brad Lindmark, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
G. Legislative and Lobbying Committee……………………………………………… Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Authorizing the Winnebago County Board Chairman to Execute the First 

Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement by and between The Ferguson 
Group (“TFG”) and the County of Winnebago for Grant Writing Services 

 
10. Unfinished Business …………………………….……………………………………..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

 
11. New Business………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

(Per County Board rules, passage will require a suspension of Board rules). 
 

12. Announcements & Communications ..................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 3  

A. Correspondence (see packet)   
 

13.  Adjournment …………………………………………………………………………..….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

Next Meeting:  Thursday, September 4, 2025 



Awards,  
Presentations,  
Public Hearings  

and Public Participation 



Approval of 
Minutes 



























CONSENT 
AGENDA 



All applying organizations have complied with the requirements of the Winnebago

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

31334 1 TRI-COUNTY ALLIANCE 8/15/2025-1/4/2026 $25,000

31335 1 ELEV815 8/15/2025-8/15/2025 $4,999.00

31336 1
TINKER SWISS COTTAGE 
MUSEUM 8/21/2025-8/21/2025 $500.00

31337 1
TINKER SWISS COTTAGE 
MUSEUM 8/21/2025-8/21/2025 $2,000.00

31338 1 ROCKFORD ART MUSEUM 9/13/2025-9/14/2025 $850.00

31339 1
BARBARA OLSON CENTER 
OF HOPE 8/15/2025-10/16/2025 $6,250.00

31340 1 CHRISTMAS FOR KIDS INC 10/1/2025-12/6/2025 $1,500.00

31341 1
ROCKFORD PARK DISTRICT 
FOUNDATION 9/13/2025-9/13/2025 $4,999.00

31342 1
ROCKFORD PARK DISTRICT 
FOUNDATION 12/12/2025-12/12-2025$4,999.00

31343 1
WINNEBAGO-BOONE FARM 
BUREAU FOUNDATION 9/13/2025-9/13/2025 $1,600.00

31344 1
BOYS & GIRLS CLUB OF 
ROCKFORD 9/11/2025-9/11/2025 $4,999.00

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

Department clearance.

The Following Have Requested a Class A, General License

The Following Have Requested a Class B, MULTIPLE (2, 3 OR 4) LICENSE

RAFFLE APPLICATION REPORT

Presently the County Clerk's office has  Raffle Applications submitted by
 (9.)  different organization for (11 ) Raffles.

County Raffle Ordinance.  All fees have been collected, bonds received and all
individuals involved with the raffles have received the necessary Sheriff's



LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

The Following Have Requested a Class D,E,& F Limited Annual License
LICENSE # OF

# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

Deputy Clerk Ana Rosas

Date

This concludes my report,

August, 14th 2025LORI GUMMOW

The Following Have Requested a Class C, One Time Emergency License

Winnebago County Clerk







Appointments 



Reports of 
Standing 

Committees 



ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT 

 COMMITTEE 



Resolution Executive Summary 
Committee Date: Monday, August 4, 2025 
Committee: Economic Development 
Prepared By: Chris Dornbush   

County Board Office 
404 Elm Street, Rm 533, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.gov 

Phone: (815) 319 - 4225 | E-mail: boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov 

Document Title:  Resolution Granting Authority To The Winnebago County Board Chairman 
To Execute The Documents Necessary To Complete A Loan For $50,000 
From The Revolving Loan Fund To Rockford Machined Products LLC (RMP) 

County Code: 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., IGA 2014-CR-122 (original) & IGA Update 2016-CR-013 

Board Meeting Date: Thursday, August 14, 2025 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted? Yes Appropriation Amount:   $50,000 
If not, explain funding source:   
ORG - OBJ - Project Code:  
Fund available in fund #0307 (Revolving Loan Fund) 

Budget Impact: None - Budgeted 

Background Information: 
Rockford Machined Products, LLC (RMP) is a new manufacturing business formed in 

October 2024 that specializes in precision parts, focusing specifically on screw production. It is 
located at 3405 Lonergan Drive, Rockford, Illinois, Rudy Arellano (100%) is the sole owner of 
RMP. RMP are requesting $50,000 at 7% interest rate for 7 years from the Winnebago County 
Revolving Loan Fund to assist with operating costs. The County’s investment makes up just over 
33% of the entire project and helps create 2 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) positions for skilled 
machinists, which has a County investment per position as $25,000. Participation in this project, 
benefits a minority-owned business. 

Recommendation:  
Administration supports the recommendation as proposed with the terms stated by RLDC for the 
loan. 

Contract/Agreement: 
NA 

Legal Review:  
Yes 

Follow-Up: 
RLDC & staff normally update the entire Board on a regular basis.

http://www.wincoil.gov/
mailto:boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov


Sponsored by: John Sweeney   County Board Meeting August 14, 2025 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF  

THE COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

SUBMITTED BY: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

2025 CR ______ 
 
 
RESOLUTION GRANTING AUTHORITY TO THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY BOARD 

CHAIRMAN TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO COMPLETE A 
LOAN FOR $50,000 FROM THE REVOLVING LOAN FUND TO ROCKFORD 

MACHINED PRODUCTS LLC (RMP) 
 

WHEREAS, Raudelio “Rudy” Arellano is the sole owner of Rockford Machined 
Products LLC (RMP), a new manufacturing business formed in October 2024 that specializes in 
precision parts production, located at 3405 Lonergan Drive, Rockford, Illinois; and 

 
WHEREAS, Mr. Arellano has experience in the manufacturing industry, he has been 

employed for the past seven (7) years at Collins Aerospace and he continues to work as well as 
running RMP; and  
 

WHEREAS, RMP is requesting fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) from the County’s 
Revolving Loan Fund to assist with operating capital to support new marketing efforts and an 
additional full-time equivalent employee immediately; and  
 

WHEREAS, it is expected that this loan will assist in the creation of two (2) full-time 
equivalent employees over the next two (2) years and participation in this project benefits a 
minority-owned business; and 
 

WHEREAS, RMP is seeking a loan to assist with operating capital, as recommended by 
the staff of Rockford Local Development Corporation (RLDC), fifty thousand dollars 
($50,000.00), amortized at seven percent (7%) for seven (7) years from the County of 
Winnebago's Revolving Loan Fund to RMP, secured by a shared senior lien on all business 
assets. Additionally, Mr. Arellano will be a co-borrower of the loan. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois, that the Winnebago County Board Chairman is hereby authorized to 
execute the loan documents prepared by Rockford Local Development Corporation (RLDC) and 
approved by the Winnebago County State’s Attorney’s Office for the loan of fifty thousand 
dollars ($50,000.00), amortized at seven percent (7%) for seven (7) years from the County of 
Winnebago's Revolving Loan Fund to Rockford Machined Products LLC (RMP), secured by a 
shared senior lien on all business assets. Additionally, Mr. Arellano will be a co-borrower of the 
loan. 

 
 



2 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be effective on its adoption. 
 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago is directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this resolution to the Winnebago  
County Chief Operations Officer, County Finance Director, County Administrator, and the 
County Auditor. 

Respectfully submitted, 
        Economic Development Committee 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIR  JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIR 

TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR  TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR 

FREDDY DE LA TRINIDAD  FREDDY DE LA TRINIDAD 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

BRAD LINDMARK  BRAD LINDMARK 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 

RAY THOMPSON  RAY THOMPSON 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY:  JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 

CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



 Revolving Loan Fund  
Loan Summary for: 

Rockford Machined Products (RMP) 

 
Tuesday, July 22, 2025    [ 1 / 3 ] 

Applicant: P.I.N.: 16-05-451-009 
Rockford Machined Products (RMP) Principal / Officer (%): Raudelio “Rudy” Arellano (100%) 
Location Address: Website:   NA 

3405 Lonergan Drive County Board District #: 15 

Rockford, IL 61109 County Board Member: Chris Scrol 

Jurisdiction: City of Rockford  

Type of Business: X New (Start-up)  Expansion (Existing) 

Industry: Manufacturing  

 
 

Requested County Revolving Loan Fund: Employees: Current Projected 

Interest Years Percentage
Owner: -$                        0.00%
County: 50,000.00$             7.00% 7 33.33%
RLDC 100,000.00$           7.00% 7 66.67%

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

Total Financing 
of Project:

150,000.00$           100.00%

Investment(s)

 

Full-Time 
Equivalent (FTE): 

2 4 

 

Part Time: 0  

Within the first 2 years of business 
operating, from the opening. 

Total: 4 

***Cost of County funds per projected job created: $25,000 
 
 
 

 
Uses of Loan Proceeds: 

 
• Purchase of a used Swiss CNC machining center at an estimated cost of $60,000. 

 
• Plus, approximately $40,000 for rigging and tooling expenses. 

 
• $50,000 for operating capital. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 Revolving Loan Fund  
Loan Summary for: 

Rockford Machined Products (RMP) 

 
Tuesday, July 22, 2025    [ 2 / 3 ] 

 

Description of Business & Project: 

 

Rockford Machined Products LLC (“RMP”) is a machine shop specializing in precision parts 

manufacturing utilizing state-of-art, high speed Swiss CNC machining equipment. The business was 

formed in October 2024 by Raudelio “Rudy” Arellano, a Program Manager for Collins Aerospace where 

he has been employed seven (7) years. Mr. Arellano started his business with his own capital in a leased 

property in Pyramid Industrial Park. He currently operates with one FTE employee and three Swiss high-

speed CNC machining centers that are a special type of screw machine products capable of producing 

hundreds of precision parts each hour. Mr. Arellano works remotely for Collins affording him flexibility to 

help in his shop while maintaining full-time employment at Collins.    He wishes to grow his business by 

purchasing another CNC Swiss screw machine and add another employee and seeks funding to support 

this initiative.   

 

 
 
 
 

  
RLDC Recommendation: 

Staff recommends a seven (7) year, $50,000 loan at 7% for the following reasons: 
 

1) RMP has showed a promising start to its brief operating history with reported profitability 
during its first six months of operations. 
 
2) Participation in this project is projected to contribute to the creation of two (2) full-time, skilled 
machinist’s jobs. 
 
3) Mr. Arellano and his wife have outside income in excess $200,000 per year that limits the 
amount of income they need from RMP to support their lifestyle. 
 
4) Participation in this project benefits a minority-owned business. 

 



 Revolving Loan Fund  
Loan Summary for: 

Rockford Machined Products (RMP) 

 
Tuesday, July 22, 2025    [ 3 / 3 ] 

 

 

Strengths & Weaknesses 
 
Strengths: 
 

1) RMP has shown a promising start to its brief operating history with reported profitability during its first six months 
of operations. 

 
2) Participation in this project is projected to contribute to the creation of two (2) full-time, skilled machinist’s job. 

 
3) Mr. Arellano and his wife have outside income in excess $200,000 per year that limits the amount of income they 

need from RMP to support their lifestyle. 
 

4) Participation in this project benefits a minority-owned business. 
 
 
Weaknesses: 
 

1) RMP is a start-up business with few regular customers. Start-up businesses have high failure rates. Mitigating 
this risk is the favorable collateral protection of the loan and the Arellano’s outside income which provides a 
secondary source for loan repayment;  

 
2) RMP relies exclusively on two customers, one of which was recently added. This concentration of business 

poses an unacceptable existential risk to the business should its business decline or another reason it would 
cease doing business with RMP. Mitigating this risk is the outside income and favorable collateral protection for 
the loan; and, 

 
3) Job shops thrive and survive on the business of their customers who are in durable goods and cyclical 

industries. Generally, when the economy weakens, customers try to bring work in-house to maintain their own 
employment thus reducing their outsourcing. 

 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Illinois Secretary of State Corporation / LLC Certificate of Good Standing 
2. WinGIS Site Location 
3. Tax Information 
4. Revolving Loan Fund Summary Information 

Other Conditions: 
 
Mr. Arrellano will be a co-borrower of the loan. 
 



(https://www.ilsos.gov/)
(https://www.ilsos.gov/search/searchgoogle.html)

Business Entity Search

Entity Information

(https://www.ilsos.gov/)

Search Ilsos.gov...

Driver's Licenses
& ID Cards

Vehicles,
Plates & Titles

Business
Services

More
Services

Entity Name
ROCKFORD MACHINED PRODUCTS LLC

Principal Address
286 RIDGE CT
ROCKFORD,IL 611070000

File Number
15042869
Status
ACTIVE on 08-03-2024

Entity Type
LLC
Type of LLC
Domestic

Org. Date/Admission Date

08-03-2024
Jurisdiction
IL

Duration
PERPETUAL

 (https://www.ilsos.gov/) Official Website of the Illinois Secretary of State Here's how you know 

7/22/25, 10:13 AM Business Entity Search

https://apps.ilsos.gov/businessentitysearch/businessentitysearch 1/2

https://www.ilsos.gov/
https://www.ilsos.gov/search/searchgoogle.html
https://www.ilsos.gov/
https://www.ilsos.gov/
https://www.ilsos.gov/


Services and More Information

Choose a tab below to view services available to this business and more information about

this business.

Annual Report
Filing Date

00-00-0000
Annual Report
Year

2025

Agent Information
DULIO ARELLANO
222 W FAY AVE
ADDISON, IL 60101-5006
Agent Change Date
08-03-2024

Available Services Managers Old LLC Name Assumed Name Series Name

File History

Purchase Master Entity Certificate of Good Standing

File Annual Report (https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcarpt/)

Articles of Amendment Effecting A Name Change (https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcartamendment/)

Adopting Assumed Name (https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcassumedadoptname/)

Change of Registered Agent and/or Registered Office (https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcagentchange/)

English

7/22/25, 10:13 AM Business Entity Search

https://apps.ilsos.gov/businessentitysearch/businessentitysearch 2/2

https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcarpt/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcarpt/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcartamendment/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcartamendment/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcassumedadoptname/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcassumedadoptname/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcagentchange/
https://apps.ilsos.gov/llcagentchange/


FormLLC-5.5
Illinois

Limited Liability Company Act
Articles of Organization FILE #

Secretary of State Alexi Giannoulias 
Department of Business Services Limited 
Liability Division
www.ilsos.gov

1. Limited Liability Company Name:

Address of Principal Place of Business where records of the company will be kept:

The Limited Liability Company has one or more members on the filing date. 

Registered Agent’s Name and Registered Office Address:

Purpose for which the Limited Liability Company is organized:
“The transaction of any or all lawful business for which Limited Liability Companies may be organized under this Act.”

The LLC is to have perpetual existence.

Name and business addresses of all the managers and any member having the authority of manager:

I affirm, under penalties of perjury, having authority to sign hereto, that these Articles of Organization are to the best
of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and complete.

Dated:

Name and Address of Organizer

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

Filing Fee:

Approved By:

$150

This document was generated electronically at www.ilsos.gov

FILED

Alexi Giannoulias 
Secretary of State

AUGUST 03, 2024

ROCKFORD, IL 61107

SNK

ADDISON, IL 60101

ADDISON, IL 60101

15042869

222 W FAY AVE

ADDISON, IL 60101-5006

286 RIDGE CT

ROCKFORD, IL 61107

222 W FAY AVE

286 RIDGE CT

17W775 STONE AVE

ROCKFORD MACHINED PRODUCTS LLC

AUG 03 2024

DULIO ARELLANO

DULIO ARELLANO

ARELLANO,RAUDELIO

ARELLANO,DULIO



 

 
 

July 22, 2025

µ
WinGIS  cannot and does not  warrant  the accuracy of : property and boundary
lines,  di mensions of parcels and lots,  locati on of structures or im provements,  and
topographic or geologic features on the l and.  Only on-site verif ication or f ield
surveys by a licensed professi onal land surveyor can provide such accuracy.

0 200100
Feet

SCALE: 1:1,200



3405 LONERGAN DR

Pin Alt.Pin Property Size

1605451009 257D005 Sq. Feet: 35091 | Acres: 0.81

Owner Name and Address

MACKXIMUS LLC ,

3405 LONERGAN DR

ROCKFORD, IL 61109

Taxpayer Name and Address

MACKXIMUS LLC ,

3405 LONERGAN DR

ROCKFORD, IL 61109

Legal Description
STENSTROMS INDUSTRIAL PARK PT S 1/2 SE 1/4 SEC 5-43-2 LOT 5 EXC
SWLY TRI PT MEAS 2.4 FT ON W LN & ALL LOT 006

Property Use

Use Code Description

0081 Ind Land + Improve

Zoning Info

ZoningDist: I1

Township Info

Township Assessor Name

CHERRY VALLEY Teresa Egler

School District

SchoolDist: ROCKFORD SCHOOL DIST 205

Fair Market Values

Year Fair Market Value Total Tax Bill Code

2024 $434,390.00 $13,886.24 127

Exemptions

No exemptions to display.

Sale History

Date of Sale Sale Type Gross Selling Price Sale Type

7/1/2024 2024015308 $600,000.00 TRD

| Winnebago Layers Internal Summary |7/22/2025

7/22/25, 10:19 AM Parcel Summary

about:blank 1/2



Flood Hazard Zones

Unable to load flood zone information. Please refresh the page. If the issue
persists, contact the WinGIS team.

7/22/25, 10:19 AM Parcel Summary

about:blank 2/2



Wincoil Home Page
Treasurer Home Page

Supervisor of Assessments
Search Again

Parcel Tax Details
for Parcel Number 16-05-451-009

View Property via WinGIS

Please choose the tax year you would like to view details for:
2024

Tax Payment Information
2024 taxes payable in 2025

Click here to make a payment

Owner Address Taxbill Address
MACKXIMUS LLC , MACKXIMUS LLC
3405 LONERGAN DR 3405 LONERGAN DR
ROCKFORD, IL 61109 ROCKFORD,IL 61109

------ First Installment------ ------ Second Installment------
Due Date:    6/6/2025 Due Date:    9/5/2025
    Amount:    6943.12     Amount:    6943.12
     Penalty:        104.15      Penalty:        0.00
         Cost:        0.00          Cost:        0.00
 Total Due:    7047.27  Total Due:    6943.12
Paid:    7047.27    Date:    6/26/2025 Paid:       Date:   
By:   METROPOLITAN TITLE AGENCY LLC By:  

For Parcel Address:   3405 LONERGAN DR
Tax Calculation

Description   Amount
Board of Review Assessed Value   144781

7/22/25, 10:20 AM Winnebago County Treasurer Parcel Tax Details Inquiry -- Results

https://taxes.wincoil.gov/TaxRecord.aspx?PIN=16-05-451-009 1/2

https://wincoil.gov/
https://treasurer.wincoil.gov/
https://assessor.wincoil.gov/
https://taxes.wincoil.gov/TaxSearch.aspx
https://wingis.org/maps/PropertySearch.html?Pin=1605451009&county=winn


Township Equalization Factor x  1.0000
Board of Review Equalized Value =  144781
Home Improvement Exemption -  0
Disabled Veteran Exemption -  0
Department of Revenue Assessed Value =  144781
County Multiplier x  1.0000
Revised Equalized Value =  144781
Senior Freeze Exemption -  0
FAF/VAF Exemption -  0
Owner Occupied Exemption -  0
Over 65 Exemption -  0
New Disabled or Veteran Exemption -  0
Returning Veteran Exemption -  0
Taxable Value =  144781
Tax Rate for Tax Code  127 x  9.5912
Calculated Tax =  $13886.24
Non Ad Valorem - +  $0.00
Abatements -  $0.00
TOTAL TAX DUE: =  $13886.24
Fair Market Value:    434390 1977 Equalized Value:    81994

Taxing Bodies and Rates
Taxing Body Rate Tax
WINNEBAGO COUNTY 0.6730 $974.38
FOREST PRESERVE 0.0835 $120.89
CHERRY VALLEY TOWNSHIP 0.1020 $147.68
ROCKFORD CITY 1.9303 $2794.71
ROCKFORD PARK DISTRICT 0.8132 $1177.36
FOUR RIVERS SANITATION AUTHORITY 0.1253 $181.41
ROCKFORD CITY LIBRARY 0.3230 $467.64
GREATER RKFD AIRPORT 0.0803 $116.26
ROCKFORD SCHOOL DIST 205 4.7899 $6934.87
COMMUNITY COLLEGE 511 0.4719 $683.22
CHERRY VALLEY TWSP ROAD 0.1988 $287.82

******** End of Real Estate Tax Information ********

Top of Page

Search Again

7/22/25, 10:20 AM Winnebago County Treasurer Parcel Tax Details Inquiry -- Results

https://taxes.wincoil.gov/TaxRecord.aspx?PIN=16-05-451-009 2/2

https://taxes.wincoil.gov/TaxSearch.aspx


Wincoil Home Page
Treasurer Home Page

Supervisor of Assessments
Search Again

Parcel Details
for Parcel Number 16-05-451-009

View Property via WinGIS
Please choose the tax year you would like to view details for:
2024

Detailed Property Information

Parcel Number Alternate Parcel Number Property Location Township
16-05-451-009 257D005 3405 LONERGAN DR CHERRY VALLEY

Taxpayer Owner
MACKXIMUS LLC MACKXIMUS LLC
3405 LONERGAN DR 3405 LONERGAN DR
ROCKFORD, IL 61109 ROCKFORD, IL 61109
Information for the Assessment year:   2024     SA Equalization Factor:   1.112100   (included in current value)

Assessment Level Land/Lot Dwelling Farm Land Farm Building  Total CNST/DEM
Current Available Assessed Value 21022 123759 0 0 144781 0
Prior Year Equalized Assessment
Value 18903 111284 0 0 130187 0

1977 EAV:   81994 Class Code:   0081--Ind Land + Improve Acres:   0.0000
Section:   Township(Lot):   02 Range(Block):  

Exemption Information
Fraternal Asmnt Freeze NO
Owner Occupied NO
50% Special Ownr Occupied NO
Senior Citizen NO
Home Improvement NO for the total amount of: 0
Historic Freeze NO
Senior Assessment Freeze NO with a base value of: 0
Disabled Veteran NO
Veteran Freeze NO
Disabled Vet 30-49% NO
Disabled Vet 50-69% NO
Disabled Vet 70-100% NO
Disabled Vet Permanent NO
Disabled Person NO
Exempt Parcel NO

Abbreviated Legal Description:   STENSTROMS INDUSTRIAL PARK PT S 1/2 SE 1/4 SEC 5-43-2 LOT 5 EXC SWLY TRI PT MEAS 2.4 FT ON W LN & ALL LOT 006
(not to be used as a recordable legal description)

Abstract:  
Parent Codes:
          1.  

7/22/25, 10:29 AM Winnebago County Supervisor of Assessments Parcel Details Inquiry -- Results

https://assessor.wincoil.gov/search/AssessmentRecord.aspx?PIN=16-05-451-009 1/3

https://wincoil.gov/
https://treasurer.wincoil.gov/
https://assessor.wincoil.gov/
https://assessor.wincoil.gov/search/AssessmentSearch.aspx
https://wingis.org/maps/PropertySearch.html?Pin=1605451009&county=winn


Cherry Valley Township Assessor

16-05-451-009
3405 LONERGAN DRIVE
ROCKFORD, 61109

Year Built:
1975

Story Description
1 Sty Brick & Block - 18 ht

Ground Area Sq Ft.
13300

Gross Area Sq Ft.
13300

Bedrooms Rooms

Deck Sq Ft.
0

Fireplace
False

Garage Sq Ft.
0

Full Basement Sq Ft.
0

Partial Basement Sq. Ft.
0

Crawlspace Sq. Ft.
0

Full Bath
0

Half Bath
0

Total Fixtures
0

Heating/Air Conditioning

Gas
False

Asphalt Roof
True

Central Air
False

Exterior

Brick
True

Frame
False

Vinyl
False

Lot Information

Class Code
0081

Permits

Date
2/17/1993

Cost
6000

Description
REMODEL

Sales History

Sale Amount Sale Date Deed Type

205000 12/28/1993

Cherry Valley
Assessor Info
Teresa Egler
4875 Blackhawk Rd
Rockford, IL 61109
Phone - (815) 874-2119
M-F 8:00am - 2:00pm
cvt2119@comcast.net

7/22/25, 10:29 AM Winnebago County Supervisor of Assessments Parcel Details Inquiry -- Results

https://assessor.wincoil.gov/search/AssessmentRecord.aspx?PIN=16-05-451-009 2/3



Winnebago County Revolving Loan Fund (RLF) Program 
Overview 

Tuesday, May 27, 2025 

Rockford Local Development Corporation (RLDC) 
Manages the Revolving Loan Fund Program on behalf of Winnebago County 

• RLDC Agreement approved November 26, 2014 (2014-CR-122) 
• Amendment approved January 28, 2016 (2016-CR-013) 

John Phelps 
Executive Director of RLDC 
#815-987-8675 

http://rldc.us/index.asp 
120 West State Street, Suite 306 

Rockford, IL  61101 
 

REVOLVING LOAN FUND PROCESS IN A NUTSHELL 
(Assuming approval at each step) 

 

 

• Program is used as a Gap Financing tool, examples of use... 
o Land & Building 
o Equipment & Machinery 
o Working Capital 

 
October 11, 2016 State of Illinois letter relinquishing reporting requirements. 

 

Business 
needs a 

loan 

RLDC 
reviews 

application 

Economic Development 
Committee  

Reviews loan 

County Board 
Reviews loan 

RLDC 
Loan is 

executed 

http://rldc.us/index.asp


Winnebago County Revolving Loan Fund (RLF) Program 
Overview 

Tuesday, May 27, 2025 

Origin of Funding for Revolving Loan Fund Program 

 

 

 

 

• Stand-alone Fund NOT connected with the County’s General Fund, operating costs, etc. 
• No liability to Winnebago County 
• Fund generates interest, typically 1%-2% above current rate 

o Interest covers management fees 
o Interest balance grows account for further community investment 

Activity Summary 

• Since September 28, 2015 through present (May 22, 2025) 
o 37 loans processed 

 Average number of loans per year 3.36 
 Average amount of loan dollars per year $240,899 

o $2,649,887 loans invested into the community 
o Estimated 238 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs created 

• Average loan approximately... 
o Amount $71,619 

 Loan amounts have ranged from $17,500 to $200,000 
o Interest Rate 6.72%  

 Interest rates have ranged from 5.0% to 9.0% 
o Year (term) length 6.32 

 Loan (term) lengths have ranged from 5 to 10 years 
 At times may be amortized out longer, but with balloon payment 

U.S. Department of 
Housing & Urban 

Development  
(HUD) 

State of Illinois 
Department of 

Commerce & Community 
Agency 
 (DCCA) 

State of Illinois 
Department of 

Commerce & Economic 
Opportunity 

 (DCEO) 

Winnebago County 
Economic 

Development 
Committee 

(EDC) 

 
 
 

 
DCCA turned into DCEO 



OPERATIONS & 
ADMINISTRATIVE

 COMMITTEE 



Sponsored by: Keith McDonald  County Board Meeting August 14, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF  

THE COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

SUBMITTED BY: OPERATIONS & ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

2025 CR ______ 

RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE DATE, TIME AND LOCATION OF EACH 
MEETING OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY BOARD, ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, under provisions of 5 ILCS 120/2.02, the County Board of the County 
of Winnebago, Illinois is required to provide public notice of the date, time, and location 
of its regularly scheduled meetings; and 

WHEREAS, under provisions of 55 ILCS 5/2-5017, the County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois is required to hold regular meetings during the months of 
June and September and may hold additional regular meetings at such times as may be 
determined by the board. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County 
of Winnebago, Illinois that the Board shall conduct its regular meetings on the 2nd and 4th 
Thursdays of each month of Fiscal Year 2026 at 6:00 pm., except as indicated  
hereunder (*): 

October 9, 2025 April 9, 2026 
October 23, 2025 April 23, 2026 

November 13, 2025 May 14, 2026 
November 25, 2025 (4th Tuesday)* May 28, 2026 

December 11, 2025 June 11, 2026 
June 25, 2026 

January 8, 2026 July 9, 2026 
January 22, 2026 July 23, 2026 

February 12, 2026 August 13, 2026 
February 26, 2026 

March 12, 2026 September 3, 2026 (1st Thursday)* 
March 26, 2026 September 24, 2026 



2 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that all meetings scheduled shall be in the County Board 
Room, 8th floor, Winnebago County Courthouse Building, 400 West State Street, Rockford, 
Illinois. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be effective on its adoption. 
 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago is directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the 
Winnebago County Chief Operations Officer, County Finance Director, County Administrator, 
Human Resources Director, Purchasing Director, and the County Auditor. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

       Operations & Administrative Committee 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR  KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR  VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 

PAUL ARENA  PAUL ARENA 

JOHN BUTITTA  JOHN BUTITTA 

JOE HOFFMAN  JOE HOFFMAN 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
 
 



3 
 

 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY:  JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 

CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Fiscal Year 2026 Board Calendar
Key

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Holiday
28 29 30 1 2 3 4 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 County Board
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 Weekends

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
26 27 28 29 30 31 1 26 27 28 29 30 1 2
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat
26 27 28 29 30 31 1 26 27 28 29 30 1 2
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 17 18 19 20 21 22 23
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 24 25 26 27 28 29 30
30 1 2 3 4 5 6 31 1 2 3 4 5 6

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat
30 1 2 3 4 5 6 31 1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30 31 1 2 3 28 29 30 1 2 3 4
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat
28 29 30 31 1 2 3 28 29 30 1 2 3 4
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
25 26 27 28 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 31 1
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 26 27 28 29 30 31 1
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 9 10 11 12 13 14 15
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 16 17 18 19 20 21 22
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 23 24 25 26 27 28 29
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 30 31 1 2 3 4 5

Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 30 31 1 2 3 4 5
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
29 30 31 1 2 3 4 27 28 29 30 1 2 3
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

March 2026

October 2025

November 2025

December 2025

January 2026

February 2026

April 2026

May 2026

July 2026

August 2026

September 2026

June 2026

Updated: 7/18/2025



Fiscal Year 2026 Board Calendar

1
2

1
2

1

1
2

1
2

1
2

1
2

1
2

1
2

1
2

1

1
2

Thursday, November 13, 2025
Tuesday, November 25, 2025

Thursday, February 12, 2026
Thursday, February 26, 2026

Thursday, March 26, 2026
Thursday, March 12, 2026

Thursday, September 3, 2026
Thursday, September 24, 2026

September

August

July
Thursday, July 9, 2026

Thursday, July 23, 2026

Thursday, August 13, 2026

Thursday, October 9, 2025
Thursday, October 23, 2025

October

November

December

January

Thursday, December 11, 2025

June

May

Thursday, April 23, 2026
Thursday, April 9, 2026

Thursday, May 14, 2026
Thursday, May 28, 2026

Thursday, June 11, 2026
Thursday, June 25, 2026

April

February

March

Thursday, January 8, 2026
Thursday, January 22, 2026

Updated: 7/18/2025



County Board:   August 14, 2025

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE COUNTY HOLIDAY SCHEDULE FOR 2026 

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, pursuant to the Illinois Revised 
Statutes, Chapter 34, Paragraph 303, (12th), is authorized to fix the days and hours of opening and closing of the 
County offices and departments; and, 

WHEREAS, the County Board, AFSCME Local 473 and FOP Lodge 50 have agreed that the County Board 
shall designate the date upon which certain holidays shall be observed for purposes of their collective bargaining 
agreements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois that, for 
the calendar year 2026, all county offices and departments subject hereto shall be closed for all Saturdays, 
Sundays, and the following holidays subject to adjustment, if necessary, based on collective bargaining 
negotiations:

DATE DAY  HOLIDAY 

January 1, 2026      New Year’s Day  Thursday 
January 19, 2026     Martin Luther King, Jr. Day    Monday 
February 16, 2026      Presidents’ Day (Observed)   Monday 
May 25, 2026   Memorial Day   Monday 
June 19, 2026    Juneteenth Independence Day    Friday 
July 3, 2026      Independence Day  (Observed)  Friday 
September 7, 2026     Labor Day    Monday 
October 12, 2026   Columbus Day/Indigenous Peoples Day (Observed)    Monday 
November 11, 2026     Veterans’ Day    Wednesday 
November 26, 2026   Thanksgiving Day   Thursday 
November 27, 2026   Day Following Thanksgiving Day  Friday 
December 24, 2026      Christmas Holiday   Thursday 
December 25, 2026      Christmas Day   Friday 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately upon its 
adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and deliver copies of this resolution 
to the Chairman of the County Board, all elected and appointed County Officers, the Chief Judge of the 17th 
Judicial Circuit, the Staff Representatives of AFSCME Local 473, and the President of FOP Lodge 50. 



         Respectfully Submitted, 
 OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

AGREE DISAGREE 

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIRMAN KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIRMAN 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIRPERSON VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIRPERSON 

PAUL ARENA PAUL ARENA 

JOHN BUTITTA JOHN BUTITTA 

JOE HOFFMAN JOE HOFFMAN 

MICHAEL THOMPSON MICHAEL THOMPSON 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ CHRISTINA VALDEZ 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 

Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 



    County Board Meeting: August 14, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION REAPPOINTING JOHN BUTITTA TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF THE NORTHERN ILLINOIS LAND BANK AUTHORITY 

WHEREAS, Section 5.01 of the Intergovernmental Agreement, the Northern Illinois 
Land Bank Authority requires that members of the Board of Trustees of the Land Bank to be 
reappointed by resolution of their respective governing bodies; and 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board approved the Intergovernmental Agreement 
becoming a member of the Board of Trustees of the Northern Illinois Land Bank Authority; and 

WHEREAS, on February 10, 2022, the Winnebago County Board approved the 
appointment of John Butitta to be the Winnebago County representative to the Board of Trustees 
of the Northern Illinois Land Bank Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board Chairman wishes to reappoint John Butitta as 
the Winnebago County representative to the Board of Trustees of the Northern Illinois Land 
Bank Authority. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that John Butitta shall be reappointed as the Winnebago County 
representative to the Board of Trustees of the Northern Illinois Land Bank Authority. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be effective immediately 
upon its adoption. 



Respectfully submitted, 
        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

 AGREE     DISAGREE 

 
_________________________________    _____________________________________ 
Keith McDonald, Chair              Keith McDonald, Chair                               
                             
_________________________________          ____________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair                  Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair 
 
_________________________________          ____________________________________ 
Paul Arena               Paul Arena 
 
_________________________________           ____________________________________ 
John Butitta               John Butitta  
 
_________________________________      ____________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                     Joe Hoffman 
 
_________________________________      ____________________________________ 
Michael Thompson         Michael Thompson 
 
_________________________________           ____________________________________ 
Christina Valdez                     Christina Valdez 

 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County  
of Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of __________________, 2025. 
 

                      ____________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman of the 

County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 



PUBLIC WORKS 
 COMMITTEE 





















































































































LEGISLATIVE &
LOBBYING

 COMMITTEE 



    Resolution Executive Summary 
Prepared By:  Karen Elyea 

Committee:  Legislative and Lobbying Committee 

Committee Date: July 29, 2025 

Board Date:  August 14, 2025 

Resolution Title: Resolution Authorizing the Winnebago County Board Chairman to Execute the First 
Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement by and between The Ferguson 
Group (“TFG”) and the County of Winnebago for Grant Writing Services 

Was item budgeted?  Yes      Appropriation Amount:   $12,000 

If not, explain funding source:  

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  12501-43190   Descriptor:   County Board/Chairman  

Background Information:   
On July 12, 2024, the County approved a one-year agreement with The Ferguson Group for grant 
writing services.  The firm acts in liaison with the Legislative and Lobbying Committee and reports 
activities to County Administration to help maximize the success in obtaining funding.  The County 
utilizes TFG to contract for on-call services related to grant writing for economic development, 
public facilities, new and existing building renovations and other opportunities.   

The renewal Agreement will continue to provide Tier 1 Grant Retainer Services to the County of 
Winnebago. Tier 1 will provide staff with useful grant services while maintaining ability to secure 
discounted grant writing services in a timely manner. 

In this past year, TFG sent 108 grant opportunities to Winnebago County. TFG currently has 
recently submitted one large Safe Streets grant for the Highway Department. They have provided 
review for two grant applications, and provided consultations to determine grant 
appropriateness/readiness. 

Recommendation:   
Legislative and Lobbying Committee recommends renewing a one-year agreement with The 
Ferguson Group. 

Legal Review:   
State’s Attorney’s Office has reviewed, revised and approved the final agreement. 

Follow-Up:    
Staff will provide updates as requested by the County Board 



  County Board Meeting: August 14, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

2025 CR _______ 

SUBMITTED BY:  LEGISLATIVE AND LOBBYING COMMITTEE 

SPONSORED BY:  JOSEPH CHIARELLI 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY BOARD 
CHAIRMAN TO EXECUTE THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE 
FERGUSON GROUP (“TFG”) AND THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO FOR 

GRANT WRITING SERVICES 

WHEREAS, on July 12, 2024, The Ferguson Group (“TFG”) and the County of 
Winnebago entered into a Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”), to set forth the 
terms and conditions for TFG to provide grant application development services to the 
County of Winnebago; and  

WHEREAS, the Legislative and Lobbying Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois, after having reviewed the Agreement and the current needs 
of the County of Winnebago, desire to amend the scope of work, term and payment terms; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Legislative and Lobbying Committee has reviewed the proposed 
terms of the First Amendment attached hereto as Resolution Exhibit A, and recommends 
executing the First Amendment under the terms set forth in the First Amendment. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County 
of Winnebago, Illinois, that the Winnebago County Board Chairman is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute the First Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement by 
and between The Ferguson Group (“TFG”) and the County of Winnebago, in substantially 
the same form as set forth in Resolution Exhibit A, attached hereto.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and 
effect immediately upon its adoption. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby 
authorized and directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the 
Director of the Chairman’s Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives, Director of Purchasing, 
Board Office, Finance Director and County Auditor.  



Respectfully submitted, 
LEGISLATIVE AND LOBBYING COMMITTEE 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

PAUL ARENA  PAUL ARENA 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

VALERIE HANSERD  VALERIE HANSERD 

TIM NABORS  TIM NABORS 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

   
 

 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the 

County of Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY:  JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 

CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 

 
 
 



1 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE FERGUSON GROUP (TFG) AND THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO 

This FIRST AMENDMENT (“Amendment”) is made and entered into this day of 
____________, 2025, by and between THE FERGUSON GROUP (“TFG”) and the COUNTY 
OF WINNEBAGO (“Client” or “County of Winnebago”) (collectively the “Parties”). 

WHEREAS, on July 12, 2024, the Parties entered into a Professional Services 
Agreement (“Agreement”), to set forth the terms and conditions for TFG to provide grant 
application development services to the County of Winnebago; and 

WHEREAS, the Legislative and Lobbying Committee, after having reviewed the 
Agreement and the current needs of the County of Winnebago, desire to amend the scope of 
work, term and payment terms; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge and mutually agree to this First Amendment to 
update sections 1(a) and 2 of the Agreement.   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual covenants contained herein, it is agreed 
by the Parties to amend the Agreement as follows: 

I. SECTION 1 (A), shall be modified to read as follows:

Services. Client hereby retains TFG to provide grant application development services
(Grant Services”) as follows:

(a) Scope of Work. TFG will provide Tier 1 Grant Retainer Services to the County of
Winnebago as described in Exhibit A (TFG Grants Overview: Grant Services for the
County of Winnebago). Services include:

• A dedicated grants expert
• Monthly grant update meetings
• Weekly grants updates
• Access to TFG’s library of Funding Guides and Grant Profiles
• Access to TFG’s Successful Grant Application Database
• Conducting an annual comprehensive grant needs assessment and strategic grant

outlook
• TFG Funding Strategy (Discount)
• Project Development and Readiness (Hourly)
• TFG Funding Blueprint (Discount)
• Grant Writing (Discount)
• Grant Editing and Review Services and Debriefs (Hourly)
• Grants Training (Discount)
• Grants Project Advocacy (Hourly)



2 
 

II. SECTION 2 [Term /Payment], shall be modified to read as follows: 

The County of Winnebago will compensate TFG through a monthly retainer of $1,000 
for services rendered commencing September 1, 2025, and extending through August 31, 
2026. Either the County of Winnebago or TFG may terminate this agreement at any time 
by giving the other party at least thirty (30) days’ notice, in writing, of such termination. 

Fees for all Task Orders shall be paid pursuant to the Illinois Local Government Prompt 
Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq and Section 10 of this Agreement. 

Except as modified by this Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the original Agreement 
shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO 
 

________________________________  Date: ____________________________ 
Joseph V. Chiarelli       
Chairman of the County Board of the   
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

ATTEST:   

 

____________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

THE FERGUSON GROUP 

 

____________________________________           Date: _______________________________ 
W. Roger Gwinn, CEO 
The Ferguson Group 
 

 



 

 

 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Professional Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this day of July 12, 2024 

(the “Effective Date”) by and between The Ferguson Group (“TFG”) and the County of Winnebago 

(“Client”).   

 

WHEREAS, Client wishes to obtain the professional services of TFG; and, 

 

WHEREAS, TFG has the knowledge, skill, and capability to perform such services for Client. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, TFG agrees to provide services to Client under the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement.  

 
1. Services. Client hereby retains TFG to provide grant application development services (Grant 

Services”) as follows 

(a) Scope of Work. TFG will provide Tier 3 Grant Retainer Services to the County of Winnebago 

as described in Exhibit A (TFG Grants Overview:  Grant Services for the County of Winnebago). 

Services include:  

• A dedicated grants expert 

• Weekly grants updates and alerts 

• Access to TFG’s library of Funding Guides and Grant Profiles 

• Access to TFG’s Successful Grant Application Database 

• Unlimited project specific grant research and funding strategies 

• Conducting an annual comprehensive grant needs assessment and strategic grant outlook 

• Grants Advocacy 

• Grant Editing and Review Services 

• Grants Training 

(b) Additional Services. TFG’s Grant Retainer model is structured to allow for changes to be made 

throughout our partnership. As a retainer client, the County of Winnebago can also engage 

with TFG either on an hourly rate or through a fixed fee for add-on grant writing services. 

Additional fees in this regard will be based on the pricing included in the attached TFG Grants 

Overview document. TFG will provide a cost proposal for all additional services tailored to the 

County’s needs. 

If the assistance of TFG’s professional advocacy staff is required, outside the scope of grant 

services, standard hourly fees for such services shall apply and such services will be clearly 

delineated in the cost estimate for each project.  

2. Term / Payment.  The County of Winnebago will compensate TFG through a monthly retainer of 

$5,000 for services rendered commencing September 1, 2024, and extending through August 31, 

2025. Either the County of Winnebago or TFG may terminate this agreement at any time by giving 

the other party at least thirty (30) days’ notice, in writing, of such termination.  



Letter of Agreement – County of Winnebago, IL 
    
 

 

 

Fees for all Task Orders shall be paid pursuant to the Illinois Local Government Prompt Payment 

Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq and Section 10 of this Agreement.  

 

3. Expenses. TFG fees include all direct labor, overhead (including general and administrative 

expenses), other direct costs, subcontractor costs, fixed fees, miscellaneous incidental services, 

and all applicable taxes. While the TFG Grants Team usually works electronically and virtually, if 

the County prefers an on-site meeting, travel time and estimated expenses will be billed in 

advance. 

 
4. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Illinois, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof. 
 

5. Independent Contractor. TFG, in the performance of this Agreement, shall be and act as an 
independent contractor. Nothing contained herein will be deemed to create an association, a 
partnership, a joint venture, or a relationship of principal and agent, or employer and employee 
between the County of Winnebago and TFG.  

 
6. Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law, TFG shall indemnify, hold harmless and 

defend County from and against all liability, claims, actions, damages, losses, and expenses, 
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, arising out of any alleged 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of TFG, its officers, employees, agents, volunteers, or other 
representatives arising out of or related to TFG’s performance under this Agreement. 

 
7. Proof of Insurance. 

TFG shall be responsible for all necessary insurance coverage as indicated in the Request for 

Qualifications with the County of Winnebago named as Additional Insured.  The COI should be 

sent to the Purchasing Department annually at purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov  

8. Confidentiality. Unless otherwise required by law, TFG will exercise reasonable effort to maintain 

in confidence information disclosed or submitted to TFG by Client as confidential information. 

Confidential information does not include information that: 
(a) is generally available in the public domain or becomes available to the public through no 

act of TFG; or 
(b) is independently known by TFG prior to receipt; or 
(c) made available to TFG as a matter of lawful right by a third party.  

 

Unless otherwise required by law, all information shared with TFG and any reports, documents, or 

other deliverables created by TFG pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be treated as 

confidential and will not be made available to any unintended third party without the prior written 

approval of Client. Reports, documents or other deliverables completed that are made available to the 

public by the Client, or that are subject to Freedom of Information requests made to the Client may 

be shared as part of the TFG portfolio of completed works, but will have sensitive and identifying 

information redacted. TFG will not share the aforementioned materials without Client permission. TFG 

will not share any budget documents without express written permission from the Client. 

 

9. Intellectual Property. No reports or other documents produced in whole or in part pursuant to 

the terms of this Agreement shall be the subject of an application for copyright by either party. 

mailto:purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov


Letter of Agreement – County of Winnebago, IL 
    
 

 

 

10. Specific Conditions.  The payment of fees for all Task Orders will be the responsibility of the 

applicable county department. However, the Winnebago County Board Chairman must sign all 

Task Orders. TFG will adhere to relevant policy in the Grants section of the Winnebago County 

Budget Policy set forth by the Winnebago County Board. Winnebago County will provide TFG 

access to the policy and subsequent updates to the policy. 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO BY: 

 

 

W. Roger Gwinn, CEO     Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman 
The Ferguson Group, LLC                             County of Winnebago  
 
                       7/12/2024 

Date       Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Remainder of page intentionally left blank. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Letter of Agreement – County of Winnebago, IL 
    
 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

TFG Grants Overview:  Grant Services for the County of Winnebago 

TFG will provide the following services to the County of Winnebago. Services marked with an orange 

checkmark are included in the Tier 3 retainer pricing for the County. All other services described can 

be obtained as add-on services at a discounted hourly rate or lump sum fee listed at the end of this 

document. 

Dedicated Grants Expert/Team 

The County of Winnebago has been assigned a dedicated grants expert to serve as a liaison to its staff. 

This expert will help navigate the complex grant world to ensure the most efficient and effective use 

of staff time when pursuing grants. 

Grants Alerts and Weekly Grants Updates 

The County of Winnebago will receive customized alerts for relevant grant opportunities, as they are 

solicited. For high priority grants or those with a short turnaround, TFG will attempt to notify the 

County of opportunities prior to solicitation. Additionally, each Friday, County staff will receive TFG’s 

Weekly Grants Update that provides a recap of grant solicitations that were published that week to 

ensure you do not miss any funding opportunities.  

Database of Successful Grant Applications 

The County of Winnebago will have access to TFG’s database of over 600 successful grant applications 

from a variety of programs to help inspire and guide the preparation of your successful grant 

submissions.  

Library of Grant Funding Guides and Grant Profiles 

The County of Winnebago will have access to TFG’s Library of Grant Funding Guides. Each Funding 

Guide provides an overview of popular grant programs and relevant information such funding level, 

match requirements, eligible applicants, and use of funds in a specific issue area. Our library includes 

guides covering a wide array of topics such as:  

• Law Enforcement • Water and Wastewater 

• Mental Health and Substance Abuse • Transportation 

• Habitat Conservation • Economic and Community Development  

• Homelessness • Coronavirus and COVID-19 

• Fire Departments • Electric Vehicles and Infrastructure  

• Parks and Recreation • Grid Modernization 

• Broadband • Hydropower/Dam 

• Libraries and Museums  

TFG’s Grants Library also includes a robust database of grant profiles and summaries that provide the 

key information you need to match a program with your needs and build a winning grant proposal. 

We present the information included in the grant solicitation in an easy-to-follow manner and 

augment it with additional background information on the program and the types of projects it has 

funded in the past. 



Letter of Agreement – County of Winnebago, IL 
    
 

 

 

Custom Project Specific Grant Research and Funding Strategy 

TFG will directly work with the County of Winnebago to conduct project specific grant research on the 

federal, state, and foundation levels and will create a customized funding strategy geared to support 

your project. We will provide you with relevant grant information, as well as recommendations on 

funding opportunities to target, that is specifically tailored to your project and your community. Our 

grants research will not only look at open, available programs, but will also focus on grant programs 

expected to be released in the future, helping you to stay “ahead of the game” and be prepared. 

Needs Assessments and Strategic Grant Outlook  

TFG will meet with County of Winnebago staff to discuss ongoing projects, primary issue areas, and 

future needs that may benefit from grant funding. These meetings will be virtual. Based on 

our team’s knowledge and experience, we will closely identify, forecast, and monitor relevant funding 

opportunities that meet your specific needs. The Strategic Grant Outlook will allow staff to know what 

is on the horizon and be prepared when a notice of funding availability is announced. 

Grant Writing 

Preparing winning grant proposals takes time, skill, and knowledge. The County of Winnebago has the 

option to access TFG’s experienced grant writers to take the County’s grant project idea from 

the start of the application to submission. From filling out federal forms to crafting a persuasive and 

compelling grant narrative and corresponding budgets, TFG will ensure that the County will have 

submitted a complete and competitive application on time. 

Grant Editing and Review 

The County of Winnebago can access TFG experts to edit and review County written grant proposals 

to improve chances of securing funding. TFG staff will expertly review your application against the 

funder’s requirements, suggest content edits, and provide recommendations on how to improve your 

narrative before you submit.  

Grant Debriefs 

Grant debriefs are important, especially if it turns out that your application didn’t get funded. TFG 

staff will help guide you through the grant debrief process and set up consultation with the funding 

agency to put your next applications in the best position to effectively compete in future solicitations. 

Grants Advocacy 

TFG helps secure congressional support, including support letters, and backing from strategic 

partners, to bolster grant applications. Federal grants are highly competitive and, more often than 

not, broad support for a project application can make the difference between a winning application 

and a highly ranked application that does not make the final list of awardees.  

Grants Training 

Our grants training is focused on building capacity, helping position the County for success in the 

often-complex grant process. TFG can train your staff on grant application processes and help improve 

the quality of grant proposals. We can provide training on a one-one-basis or through larger 



Letter of Agreement – County of Winnebago, IL 
    
 

 

 

workshops dependent on your needs. TFG also has established partnerships with other grant training 

professionals that specialize in post-award management who can be accessed to support grant 

management training needs. 

Grant Pricing for the County of Winnebago 

The table below outlines the services TFG can provide to the County on a monthly basis. As a retainer 

client, the County will have at its disposal TFG’s diverse complement of staff experts without any 

worry about getting unexpected bills. 

The County has agreed to Tier 3 retainer service with the option of discounted add-on services. Should 

the County of Winnebago need a different combination of services, TFG will work with the County to 

amend the retainer and create one that best fits your needs. This includes the option of moving to 

Tier 1 or 2 with a 30-day written notice. 

  Tier 1  
(1,000/mo)  

Tier 2  
($3,000/mo)  

Tier 3  
($5,000/mo)  

Tier 4  
($8,000/mo)  

Dedicated Grant Expert/Team  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Monthly Grant Update Meetings   ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Grant Alerts & Tracking    
✓ ✓ ✓ 

Weekly Grants Update   ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Access to TFG Grant Funding Hub   ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Access to TFG Grant Showcase  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

TFG Funding Strategy   15% discount  15% discount  ✓ ✓ 

Project Development and Readiness   Hourly  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

TFG Funding Blueprint   15% discount  Up to 3 projects  
Unlimited for 
Winnebago 
County, IL* 

Up to 6 
projects  

Grant Writing  
15% discount  15% discount  15% discount  

Up to 3 
projects**   

Grant Editing and Review  Hourly  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Grant Debriefs  Hourly  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Grant Training  15% discount  15% discount  ✓ ✓ 

Grant Project Advocacy  Hourly  hourly  ✓ ✓ 

Congressionally Directed Spending (Earmarks) ***  
    

Negotiated Fee Based On 
Scope  

Post-Award Grant Management Services*** 
    

Negotiated Fee Based On 
Scope  

Negotiated Indirect Cost Rate Agreements***  
    

Negotiated Fee Based On 
Scope  

 *normally, it is up to 5 projects for Tier 3 clients 
 ** depending on program complexity   
***available only to Tier 3 and Tier 4 retainer clients    



Letter of Agreement – County of Winnebago, IL 
    
 

 

 

Service Add-Ons 

TFG believes in offering flexibility to our clients. As a retainer client, the County of Winnebago can 

engage with TFG on a discounted hourly rate, or lump sum fee, for as needed grant writing services. 

Grant Writing – As Needed, Per Grant  

To provide greater transparency in the cost of grant writing services, TFG has created the grant writing 

service fee table below, which provides the average cost for grant writing services based on the 

narrative page limitations imposed in the grant application. Grant applications vary widely with 

respect to complexity and level of effort required to complete them. If you are interested in securing 

these services, TFG will provide you with a tailored cost proposal that reflects the level of effort 

required to draft the narrative and non-narrative elements such as forms, budgets, and logic models. 

Exceptions do occur based on the complexity of the grant application, but we work hard to keep costs 

in line with the pricing guidelines outlined below. 

 

Workload   
(low to high)   

Type of Grant   
Narrative Page 

Length   
Approximate  

Average Cost*   

  
15% Retainer 
Discount Cost  

Level 1   Small, well-defined request   6-10   $6,000 - $7,000  $5,100 - $6,050  

Level 2   Small, full grant application   11-15   $12,000 - $13,000  
$10,200 - 
$11,100  

Level 3   Medium, full grant application   16-20   $18,000 - $20,000  
$15,300 - 
$17,000  

Level 4   
Large state or national foundation 

or medium federal grant   
21-25   $22,000 - $24,000  

$18,700 - 
$20,400  

Level 5   Large federal grant application   26-30   $26,000 - $29,000  
$22,100 - 
$24,650  

Technical  
Complex/Technical grant 

application  
Varied  Custom  Custom  

*The approximate average cost to write a grant varies greatly based on several factors, including the development of 
narrative, required submittal forms, creation of budgets, project complexity, and other related considerations. Last minute 
emergency grant writing requests are subject to a 35% markup to the non-discounted grant writing fee. Where efficiencies 
are built into a grant writing process, such as in the case of a grant rewrite or a joint application scenario, a further 
discount may be applied.   

Grant Writing – As Needed, Hourly Rate 

Grant writing services can also be available at an hourly rate of $300/hour.  Since the County of 

Winnebago is a retainer client our hourly rate will be discounted to $255/hour. Last-minute requests 

for additional grant-related services are subject to a 35 percent mark-up.  

If the assistance of TFG’s professional lobbying staff is required, such as for grants advocacy or grants 

policy-related services, these services are billed at the following rates: 

• $425 Partner/Principal/Senior Advisor/Of Counsel $240 Senior Associate  

• $170 Associate       $115 Research Assistant   



UNFINISHED 
BUSINESS 



NEW BUSINESS 



ANNOUNCEMENTS & 
COMMUNICATIONS 



County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  Clerk.wincoil.gov 
Phone: (815) 319-4250 | Fax: (815) 969-0259  

Announcements & Communications 
Date: August 14, 2025 
Item: Correspondence to the Board 
Prepared by: County Clerk Lori Gummow 

Governing Statute(s):  State of Illinois Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/Div. 3-2, Clerk 

County Code: Ch 2. Art. II. Div. 4, Sec. 2.86 – Record Keeping & Communications 

Background: The items listed below were received as correspondence.  

1. County Clerk Gummow received from the United States Nuclear Regulatory
Commission a letter regarding Information Request to Support Upcoming Problem
Identification and Resolution Inspection at Byron Station

2. County Clerk Gummow received from the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency a letter
regarding a Public Notice of Hazardous Waste Permit Renewal Life Technologies Corporation
in Rockford.

http://www.wincoil.us/
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO


 

Adjournment 


	Agenda
	Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings & Public Participation
	Approval of Minutes
	Consent Agenda
	Appointments
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Economic Development Committee
	Resolution Granting Authority to Winn. Cty. Board Chairman to Execute Documents Necessary to Complete a Loan for $50,000 from the RLF to Rkfd. Machined Products LLC
	Operations & Administrative Committee
	Resolution Establishing the Date, Time & Location of each Meeting of the Winnebago County Board, Illinois
	Resolution Establishing the County Holiday Schedule for 2026
	Resolution Reappointing John Butitta to the Board of Trustees of the Northern IL Land Bank Authority
	Public Works Committee
	(25-043) Resolution Authorizing the Award of Bid for Forest Hills Road Safety Improvements (Section 25-00751-00-SP)
	(25-044) Resolution Authorizing the Highway Dept. to Lease 5 Light Duty Vehicles as part of the Master Lease Agreement with Enterprise FM Trust
	(25-045) Resolution Authorizing a Joint Funding Agreement with the State of IL for Federal Participation for Replacement of the Prairie Hill Rd. Bridge over the Rock River
	(25-046) Resolution Authorizing the Obligation Retirement of Bond Payments from MFT Funds (Section 14-00563-00-GB)
	Legislative & Lobbying Committee
	Resolution Authorizing the Winnebago County Board Chairman to Execute the First Amendment to the Professional Services Agreement by & between The Ferguson Group & the County of Winnebago for Grant Writing Services
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Announcements & Communications
	Adjournment



